	
	MARTIN KELLAWAY

	
	Email:
martin.kellaway@ons.gov.uk

	
	

	
	18 November 2008

	
	

	Sandy Stewart

Office of the Chief Economic Adviser

Scottish Government

4-ER

St. Andrew’s House

Edinburgh

EH1 5DG


	


Dear Sandy,

ONS approach to ‘PFI liabilities’

Thank you for your email of 14 November, which referred to earlier correspondence on a paper by Jim Cuthbert presented at SESCG.  

You mentioned that his paper raises two main issues:-

a) it suggests that the current test, (basically based on risk transfer), for whether a PFI scheme is on or off the books does not take adequate account of the rather different criteria in the paper “Long Term Contracts Between Government Units and Non-government Partners”, by  Eurostat, (2004);

b) it suggests that ONS is wrong to be making a symmetric adjustment to public sector assets and liabilities for on-balance sheet schemes, given recent information that has emerged from detailed examination of the financial projections for some PFI schemes.

You wrote to ONS previously on this topic, and received in return a reply covering ONS’ future plans, as set out in a published article.  It was felt that this article did not adequately address some specific issues raised in the paper, so you asked for a substantive response on these specific issues.  This reply aims to provide this, and should be read alongside the original reply as it generally expands on and explains better the information in that reply.
Jim Cuthbert’s paper is titled "How recent information obtained under Freedom of Information indicates that there is a need to review the ONS approach to including PFI liabilities in Public Sector Net Debt".  The ONS article makes clear that ONS’ initial 'pragmatic approach' to producing data is being reviewed, something that was always planned, and sets out the reasons why - one of which is checking compliance with Eurostat’s rules.  It is worth stating at outset that ONS considers there is nothing in the paper regarding information collected under FoI that changes this position.

Section 2 of Jim Cuthbert’s paper quotes from Eurostat's Manual on Government Deficit and Debt (MGDD) that:

 “Recording the assets as government assets would be appropriate in the following case:- ·
the price paid by the government [for acquiring the assets at the end of the contract] is lower than the economic value,(or even nil), but government has already paid for the right to acquire the assets throughout the contract by making regular payments that reached a total very close to the full economic value of the assets.”  

In many PFI deals the asset is legally acquired at end-period, and the acquisition price will actually be paid throughout the lease.  If read in isolation it could be inferred that Eurostat rules lead to such cases (probably most of them for UK) being considered as ‘on balance sheet’.

However, this paragraph needs to be read alongside earlier paragraphs to be put into context.  These explain that in some circumstances the 'risk transfer criteria' will not provide a clear conclusion, and if this situation occurs further guidance is introduced, which includes the paragraph quoted.  See below:

"3.
Final allocation of the assets

An analysis of the clauses relating to the disposal of the PPP assets (as defined in 1.2.g) described at the end of the contract can be used as a supplementary criterion for determining overall risk transfer, notably where the risk analysis mentioned above, does not give clear conclusions (for instance if risk distribution is estimated as balanced or is based on fragile hypotheses). However, as such, the final allocation of the assets could not be the single and straightforward criterion for the classification of the PPP assets but, notwithstanding this, it might give in some cases additional insight into risks among the contract partners as the clauses concerning the final allocation of the asset might help to assess whether a significant risk remains with the private partner. "

Section 4.1 of Jim Cuthbert’s paper introduces a suggestion, which you summarised as: "the current test, (basically based on risk transfer), for whether a PFI scheme is on or off the books does not take adequate account of the rather different criteria in the paper “Long Term Contracts Between Government Units and Non-government Partners”, by  Eurostat, (2004)."

As explained in the article sent in reply “The [ONS] approach was based on two assumptions: that it would produce consistent results across the economy (e.g. there should be consistent recording in the National Accounts for both partners) and that it was compliant with European Union statistical rules for reporting government debt.  The European Union guidance here states that a GAAP approach is likely to produce similar results to the statistical approach."  This explains that, while Eurostat recognise the criteria should actually be similar, ONS will be assessing compliance with the Eurostat rules.  However, the criteria here are not as ‘rather different’ as the paper suggests since the paragraph quoted earlier is only used in cases where the standard risk assessment analysis does not yield conclusions.

Section 4.2 of Jim Cuthbert’s paper introduces a suggestion, which you have summarised as: "ONS is wrong to be making a symmetric adjustment to public sector assets and liabilities for on-balance sheet schemes, given recent information that has emerged from detailed examination of the financial projections for some PFI schemes."

As explained in the article sent in reply: "The National Accounts present a historic record of activities in an economy, showing transactions between sectors of the economy when they happen, or accrue, with every transaction generating an equal and opposite entry for the parties involved.  They do not attempt to show the financial position or income generation of single entities, nor to show future uncertain events such as provisions and contingent liabilities."  
The equal and opposite symmetry is a key feature of the national accounts system – transactions and positions between different sectors of the economy must be in balance.  So while Jim Cuthbert later concludes that in his opinion "It seems perfectly reasonable that the symmetry principle should be abandoned in these circumstances." that is not an option here.  Under the national accounts system's approach to finance leasing, the initial value of the finance lease loan is equal to the capital expenditure on the asset.

The payments between the parties (stripping out costs associated with service provision and acquiring the asset) will be higher than the capital expenditure, with the additional amounts being the interest payable on the imputed loan. 

Jim Cuthbert feels that the procedure used for calculating values used "In the light of the evidence quoted at para 3.2b) above, this procedure now looks very questionable". While he is of course entitled to his view, ONS is legally obliged to use the international standards in place, it can not depart from them.

Jim Cuthbert explains the rationale for his alternative as "From the point of view of the taxpayer, and those responsible for ensuring that value for money is achieved by the public sector ..."
As the MGDD states, "It is not the role of statisticians to examine the motives, rationale and efficiency of these partnerships, or to voice an opinion about the “economic viability” and the “financial viability” of the underlying projects." 

Instead, it is ONS primary role here to produce National Accounts and related products, such as Public Sector Net Debt for UK fiscal policy purposes, and Government Debt for EU Excessive Deficit Procedure purposes.  If the ONS statistics therefore fail to provide what is appropriate for a ‘value for money’ analysis this should not be seen as a failing because they are not designed to meet that purpose.
The final part of Jim Cuthbert’s paper makes proposals, which can be briefly summarised as ONS conducting an in-house analysis of each PFI deal rather than relying on the analysis of public bodies, while acknowledging the complexity of the issues involved.  An in-house analysis of each deal, in a country where there are approaching a thousand PFI-type deals, would be very resource-intensive - ideally a simpler solution would be found, such as the current ‘pragmatic approach’.  The next phase of the ONS PFI project is assessing whether the 'pragmatic approach' adopted is satisfactory; if this proves not to be the case and no other simple-source solution is available, then it may be that ONS has to adopt an in-house analysis of each case.  However, the work to assess this must be done first.
I hope that this reply helps to answer the specific issues raised in the paper.

Yours sincerely,

Martin Kellaway

Head of National Accounts Classification

Office for National Statistics
Note

The home of this document is the Cuthbert website www.jamcuthbert.co.uk  

